THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Aisha Taylor, Commissioner  
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner  
Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner

---

**RECEIVED**

AUG 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

W.C.C. File No. 1102937  
SC Court of Appeals Case No. 2016-000514

---

Barry Adickes, Claimant,

Respondent,

v.

Philips Healthcare, Employer, and Fidelity and  
Guarantee Insurance Company, Carrier,

Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Brooke A. Payne (SC Bar #: 81085)  
Ryan D. Oxford (SC Bar #: 101326)  
503 Wando Park Blvd., Ste. 205  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  
Telephone: 843-353-0796

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did The Commission Err in Finding Respondent to be at MMI for All of his Work-Related Injuries?
- II. Did The Commission Err in Determining that Respondent Met His Burden of Proving Entitlement to Permanent Partial Disability Benefits Due to Loss of Earning Capacity?
- III. Did the Commission Err in Awarding Wage Loss benefits in Contravention of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondent Barry Adickes (“Respondent”) initiated these proceedings by filing a Form 50, Request for Hearing, on September 23, 2014. (R. p. 36; R. p. 119, lines 17-19). In his Form 50, Respondent alleged a loss of earning capacity as a result of his work injury under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20. (R. p. 36; R. p. 120, lines 3-6). In the timely filed Form 51, Employer’s Answer, Philips Healthcare and Fidelity and Guarantee Insurance Company argued that a permanency determination was premature and denied that the Respondent was entitled to a wage loss award. (R. p. 37).

A Hearing was held before Commissioner Gene McCaskill on January 21, 2015, in Lancaster, South Carolina. (R. pp. 115-282). The Respondent alleged that he has sustained cognitive impairment resulting from his work-related accident causing a loss of earning capacity. (R. p. 119, line 25 – R. p.120, line 6). Respondent also sought ongoing medical care. (R. p. 120, lines 9-11).

Appellants argued that the Respondent had not yet reached maximum medical improvement, as to his bilateral shoulders and a permanency hearing was premature. (R. p. 121, lines 18–21). Appellants also argued Respondent had failed to show by a preponderance of the

evidence that he sustained a causally related wage loss. (R. p. 120, line 21 – R. p.121, line 1; R. p. 121, lines 10-15). Appellants further argued that the claim should be heard under the scheduled member statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30. (R. p. 121, lines 15-18).

After receiving testimony from the Respondent, Respondent’s wife, and Employer Representative, and considering the documentary evidence presented pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act, Commissioner McCaskill issued a Decision and Order dated August 27, 2015 (R. pp. 17-34). By his Decision and Order, Commissioner McCaskill deemed the Respondent at MMI, found that he had sustained a permanent loss of wage earning capacity and awarded the Respondent “\$704.92 a week for three hundred forty (340) weeks commencing January 17, 2014, the date that the Claimant’s wage loss began.” (R. p. 34). Additionally, Commissioner McCaskill ordered Appellants to pay for Respondent’s future medical care for his right shoulder, to include surgery as recommended by Dr. Barron, post-concussive medical care and treatment with Dr. Mandell and ongoing cervical radiofrequency ablations with Dr. Park. (Id.).

On September 3, 2015, Appellants filed a request for review by the Workers’ Compensation Commission’s Appellate Panel. (R. pp. 54-56). Appellants argued that Commissioner McCaskill erred in finding and concluding that the Respondent has reached MMI and had sustained wage loss as a result of his work accident. (R. p. 287, line 22 – R. p. 295, line 3). Further, Appellants argued that Commissioner McCaskill erred in concluding as a matter of law that the Respondent is entitled to three hundred forty (340) weeks of benefits commencing on January 17, 2014, against the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20. (R. p. 304, line 12 – R. p. 305, line 14).

After reviewing the parties' briefs and holding oral arguments on December 14, 2015, the Commission's Appellate Panel issued a Final Decision and Order on February 8, 2016, affirming Commissioner McCaskill's findings of fact and conclusions of law in their entirety. (R. pp. 1 - 16).

This matter now comes before the South Carolina Court of Appeals from the Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel, as Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on March 7, 2016. (R. p. 113).

### **SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE**

Respondent Barry Adickes ("Respondent") earned a Bachelor's degree in Marketing from the University of South Carolina. (R. p. 123, lines 16-18). Prior to the work-related accident in March 2011, Respondent worked in his position for over twenty years, approximately five of those years directly for Philips Healthcare ("Philips"). (R. p. 124, line 23 – R. p. 125, line 1). On October 16, 2009, Respondent was placed on a Performance Improvement Plan ("PIP") as a result of low sales each quarter. (R. pp. 469-472). The following month, Respondent was informed via email by his supervisor, Jim Hendrix, informing him that his numbers were still low in October and needed to improve. (R. p. 468).

Similarly, in May of 2010, Regional Manager Paul Stoddard informed Respondent that his performance was still an issue, as he had only achieved his quota once in the prior 6 months. (R. p. 168, lines 15-22; R. p. 473). Respondent acknowledged that not meeting his quota meant not doing his job well. (R. p. 167, lines 20-24). In September of 2010, the VP of Sales and HR Manager discussed Respondent being on PIP and not being terminated because his sales were trending upwards, yet the HR Manager noted her opinion that it is "not the right job for him." (R. p. 476).

Respondent contends that he never had any issues performing his job pre-injury. (R. p. 143, lines 13-15). Respondent was of the opinion that the “PIPPIP (sic) was something that [he] --- that truly did not inhibit or influence [his] feelings of how [he] was doing [his] job.” (R. p. 164, lines 10-12). Respondent earned \$131,000.00 in 2010 at Philips. (R. p. 463).

Respondent was transferred into a new position in January 2011, placing him under the direct supervision of Mark Johnson. (R. p. 235, line 25 – R. p. 236, line 12). Mark Johnson is the Regional Manager at Philips, where he has been employed for 18 years. (R. p. 232, lines 2-9). Mr. Johnson became the Respondent’s direct supervisor on January 1, 2011, and remained his supervisor for three years. (R. p. 232, line 21 - R. p. 233, line 6). Before the Respondent came under his supervision, Mr. Johnson reached out to HR and other managers to solicit feedback about Respondent’s work performance. (R. p. 234, lines 19-24). Mr. Johnson learned that the Respondent was difficult to coach and had performance issues. (R. p. 235, lines 1-8). For this reason, Mr. Johnson recommended that the Respondent be placed on the Indirect Channel position, as opposed to the more challenging position in the EMS area, as it was more suited for his abilities. (R. p. 236, line 20 - R. p. 237, line 21). As a result, Mr. Johnson suggested that the Respondent be assigned to a less complex sales position in January 2011. (R. p. 237, lines 17-21).

Philips has a standard review procedure, which Mr. Johnson performs annually on all of the employees under his supervision, called the People Performance Management (“PPM”). (R. p. 235, lines 18-21). In these reviews, the employees are critiqued and given direction and a development plan for the following year. (R. p. 235, lines 21-23). Prior to the work injury, Respondent earned a base salary of \$85,000.00, plus commission and bonuses. Respondent’s pre-injury average weekly wage was \$2,608.52. (R. p. 35).

The Respondent was involved in a single-car accident on March 22, 2011. (R. p. 119, lines 24-25). An ambulance was called to the scene, but Respondent declined medical treatment. (R. p. 132, lines 13-16). His wife picked him up from the scene. (R. p. 133, lines 3-4). Respondent initially had pain in both shoulders, although worse on the right. (R. p. 134, lines 11-13). He remained out of work for less than two months, until May 1, 2011, when he returned to his normal job duties at Philips. (R. p. 143, lines 16-21). In his work-related accident, Respondent suffered injuries to his head, neck, and bilateral shoulders. (R. p. 134, line 23).

Head/Neurological Treatment/Evaluations:

Respondent initially treated at Piedmont Medical Center on March 23, 2011. (R. p. 674). A CT scan of his head was performed, which revealed no acute intracranial abnormality. (R. p. 677). On March 30, 2011, he treated with Dr. Nicholas Tuttle at Rock Hill Family Practice Associates. (R. pp. 644-647). Dr. Tuttle diagnosed a grade II-III concussion, post-concussive syndrome, headaches, left parietal scalp contusion, left shoulder contusion, multiple abrasions of forearms and legs. (R. p. 646). Dr. Tuttle eventually referred him to Dr. Mandell for further neurological evaluation. (R. p. 643).

Respondent was first evaluated by Dr. Mandell on April 6, 2011 (R. p. 617). Dr. Mandell noted that, over the last two weeks, Respondent had slowly improved, as he was no longer having nausea or vomiting, and his headaches waxed and waned in intensity. (Id.). Dr. Mandell indicated that he expected Respondent to have a full recovery and recommended he remain out of work for 4 weeks. (R. p. 619). An MRI scan of his brain was performed on July 11, 2011, which was normal. (R. p. 683). On January 29, 2011, Dr. Mandell noted that Respondent continued to improve and he would not need to do anything further if his headaches continued to improve. (R. pp. 612-613).

Respondent returned to Dr. Mandell on May 8, 2012, and it was noted that his cognitive issues had resolved, but he continued with intermittent migraines. (R. p. 608). At that time, Respondent reported only one bad headache since Christmas. (Id.). Mr. Mandell placed him at MMI. (R. p. 609). In September 2012 and January 2013, Respondent complained of forgetfulness and cognitive issues, which Dr. Mandell related to his medication, Zonisamide. (R. pp. 604-607). In April 2013, Dr. Mandell noted that his Zonisamide had been replaced by Nadolol, and Respondent had tolerated it quite well. (R. p. 594).

At his deposition in April of 2013, Respondent stated that his only cognitive issues were memory loss and difficulty putting words together. (R. p. 197, line 24 – R. p. 198, line 4). Respondent also testified at that time that his memory loss had not impacted his ability to do his job; in fact, he had adequately performed his job at Philips since his return to work. (R. p. 198, lines 12-21). At his return visit to Dr. Mandell in October of 2013, Respondent reported doing a lot better, yet continuing to have headaches once a month. (R. p. 592).

He was then evaluated by Dr. John Welshofer on October 31, 2012, for his post-concussive symptoms. (R. p. 581). Dr. Welshofer assigned a PPD rating of 15% to his brain for post-concussive symptomatology and recommended that he continue under the care of Dr. Mandell. (R. p. 584).

At his February 4, 2014 visit with Dr. Mandell, Respondent continued to report intermittent migraines once or twice a month. (R. p. 590). Additionally, it was noted that Respondent continued to have “minor issues with memory,” which he was “not sure if it is related to being 52 or if it is due to the work trauma, and he is willing to attribute it to age.” (Id.). He notes that Respondent is unsure of whether the memory issues are “different from any of his other friends.” (Id.). Overall, Dr. Mandell opined that Respondent was doing well and recommended a return visit

in 6 months. (R. p. 591). Respondent was last evaluated by Dr. Mandell on August 29, 2014, wherein he reported difficulty with focus and concentration. (R. p. 586). Dr. Mandell indicated that he suspected that it was related to his brain injury, and he wanted to give him a trial of Adderall. (Id.). Respondent has not returned to Dr. Mandell.

Two months later, Respondent underwent a Neuropsychological Evaluation with Dr. Randy Waid on October 7, 2014, at the request of his counsel. (R. pp. 513-521). Dr. Waid noted that it was Joel Leonard's (Respondent's vocational expert) recommendation that he undergo a neuropsychological evaluation. (Id.). With regard to cognitive functioning, Respondent reported to Dr. Waid that it took him "longer to do paperwork and complete tasks," and had difficulty with regard to "being able to formulate [his] thoughts and express them concisely." (R. p. 515).

Dr. Waid performed over 20 objective tests and found the Claimant to have average to above-average performance on nearly every exam. (R. pp. 516-521). Most notably, he found that the Claimant has a high average IQ, and performed within the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile on many occasions, particularly when reasoning, computation, and memory were involved. (Id.). Dr. Waid referred to the Respondent as "a resilient individual who is functioning reasonably well," and that he is "functioning in the high average range of intellectual abilities." (R. pp. 519-520). Dr. Waid noted that the Respondent complained of forgetfulness in day to day pursuits, and noted "yet, assessment of anterograde memory generally revealed intact immediate learning/memory as well as an efficient ability to retain and recall information once it is effectively encoded/learned. (Id.). Overall, Dr. Waid determined that the neuropsychological evaluation provided favorable results and that the Claimant's brain behavior functioning is intact. (R. p. 520).

Right and Left Shoulder Treatment/Evaluations:

Respondent initially treated with his neighbor, Dr. Rentz, at his home in regard to his shoulder and upper extremity complaints. (R. p. 201, lines 11-14; R. pp. 644). He then treated with Dr. Tuttle at Rock Hill Family Practice complaining of pain and stiffness in his left shoulder and bruising in his left biceps area. (R. p. 645).

Respondent returned to Dr. Rentz on August 25, 2011 for his right shoulder pain, and underwent an injection. (R. p. 673). He then underwent a right shoulder X-ray on October 5, 2011, which revealed a grade II/III acromion and no other abnormalities. (R. p. 671). Respondent underwent right shoulder arthroscopy, debridement of a grade IV SLAP tear and an anterior labrum, biceps tenotomy and open biceps tenodesis to the proximal humerus on October 21, 2011, 7 months after the accident. (R. p. 666). His post-op treatment with Dr. Rentz showed good recovery. (R. pp. 655-662). In fact, at his June 25, 2012 visit, Dr. Rentz noted that he was doing a lot better, his motion was essentially back to full. (R. p. 655). It was noted that Respondent was concerned about having some impingement in his shoulder, but that Dr. Rentz was of the opinion that it was just “some residual.” (Id.).

At his counsel’s request, Respondent then underwent an IME with Dr. Jerry Barron, in relation to his right shoulder on December 12, 2012. (R. pp. 562-564). He reported continued significant pain in his right shoulder and concerns of impingement. (R. p. 562). Dr. Barron noted that “unfortunately, he has not responded to surgical treatment on his right shoulder” and recommended that Respondent undergo a right shoulder MRI arthrogram. (R. p. 564).

At the request of the Appellants, Respondent returned to Dr. Rentz on September 14, 2014, and the office note indicates that he was seen for a “Rate and Release of his right shoulder.” (R. p. 650). Respondent reported continued pain in his right shoulder with overhead activities and that

his shoulder “wants to pop and catch.” (R. p. 652). Rather than providing a rating, Dr. Rentz recommended that Respondent undergo a right shoulder MRI scan due to his continued complaints. (Id.). The MRI scan of his right shoulder performed on October 10, 2014, revealed supraspinatus and infraspinatus tendinopathy, small tear in the infraspinatus tendon, moderate to severe AC joint arthropathy and inferior osteophytosis and subacromial spur, and biceps tenodesis. (R. p. 648). Respondent never returned to his authorized treating physician, Dr. Rentz, following the scan. (R. p. 208, lines 9-11).

Dr. Jerry L. Barron, the IME physician, completed a questionnaire on January 14, 2015, wherein he opined that Respondent had sustained an impairment rating of 15% to the right shoulder, 0% rating to the left shoulder and that the Respondent will “most probably eventually require additional surgery to the right shoulder based on the MRI findings as well as ongoing symptoms.” (R. p. 565). As of the date of the hearing, Respondent continues to have pain in his right shoulder, which feels like an impingement. (R. p. 137, line 14 - R. p. 138, line 23). He remains unable to raise his right arm above shoulder height without pain, and it is Respondent’s understanding that his right shoulder condition warrants surgery. (R. p. 153, lines 13-17).

#### Cervical Treatment/Evaluations:

Respondent has treated with Drs. Welshofer and Park in relation to his cervical injury. (R. p. 135, lines 14-17). He first treated with Dr. John Welshofer on October 31, 2012, for his complaints of cervical pain. (R. p. 581). Dr. Welshofer diagnosed chronic neck pain and recommended he undergo a cervical MRI scan. (R. p. 584). The cervical MRI scan was performed on March 28, 2013, revealing anterolisthesis at C4-5, small central disc protrusion without cord compression, facet arthropathy on the right side and the possibility of a non-healing fracture at C4. (R. pp. 574-575). Dr. Welshofer then recommended a whole body bone scan, which was

performed on June 13, 2013, revealing advanced facet joint arthropathy at C4-5. (R. p. 576). A cervical CT scan performed on the same date revealed significant degeneration at C4-5, but no fracture. (R. pp. 574-575). On June 19, 2013, Dr. Welshofer placed the Claimant at MMI for his cervical condition, assigned a PPD rating of 10% to his spine and referred him to Dr. Richard Park for injections. (R. p. 570).

Respondent began facet joint injection therapy with Dr. Park in July of 2013. (R. p. 559). He initially underwent medial branch blocks and was pleased with the improvement, and then began undergoing radiofrequency ablations in January of 2014. (R. pp. 540, 544). Dr. Park opined that Respondent will need radiofrequency ablations every 6 to 24 months for pain relief. (R. p. 539).

During his position under Mark Johnson, Respondent had numerous disciplinary issues, one involving the improper use of his company credit card. (R. p. 244, lines 5-11). Mr. Johnson witnessed first-hand the Respondent's performance issues, as he was difficult to get a hold of, had poor follow-up with customer and coworkers and an overall lack of urgency. (R. p. 238, line 15 – R. p. 239, line 1). Respondent's work ethic, behavior and communication skills were the same before and after the accident, according to Mr. Johnson. (R. p. 239, lines 2-22).

According to Mr. Johnson, the Respondent did not mention any of the alleged symptoms related to his head injury, including headaches, lack of focus, or any other cognitive impairments. (R. p. 247, line 20 – R. p. 248, line 8). In the year of his accident, 2011, the Respondent almost met his quota, even though he was out of work for nearly 2 months. (R. p. 175, lines 15-24). Mr. Johnson sent an email to Respondent on March 9, 2012, stating that that his performance issues from 2010 were resurfacing, involving time management and focus issues. (R. p. 176, lines 4-25).

Following his injury, Respondent earned \$125,000.00 in 2012, \$115,000.00 in 2013 at Philips. (R. pp. 462-466). Philips Healthcare underwent another corporate restructuring and the Respondent's position was eliminated in January of 2014. (R. p. 477). Mr. Johnson called the Respondent on January 17, 2014, with HR personnel on the phone, and informed him that he was being let go as part of a Reduction in Force ("RIF"). (R. p. 240, lines 1-3). Mr. Johnson informed the Respondent that the RIF was commenced at a higher corporate level and that the Respondent's termination was not related to performance or any other motive. (R. p. 243, lines 19-24). Terminations resulting from RIF's are highly monitored by Philips, and the supervisors delivering the news are instructed to read from a script to ensure that there is no mention of performance, as the RIF's are purely business decisions. (R. p. 241, lines 8-18). Mr. Johnson did not make any comments about performance in the RIF termination discussion; as the RIF script strictly forbids use of that phrase. (R. p. 241, lines 12-15, R. p. 242 line 25 – R. p. 243, line 3). In the termination discussion, Respondent requested a probationary period similar to his previous performance related disciplinary actions; however, Mr. Johnson reiterated that the downsizing was solely the result of a restructuring and there are no probationary periods in this situation. (R. p. 242, lines 19-24). Respondent entered into a Settlement and General Release with Philips, wherein he was provided with a lump sum severance in the amount of \$90,139.00. (R. pp. 477-481).

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