THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

AUG 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals

WCC File No. 1102937  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000514

Barry Adickes, Claimant, ..... Respondent,

v.

Philips Healthcare, Employer,  
and Fidelity and Guarantee  
Insurance Company, Carrier, ..... Appellants.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

William L. Smith, II # 5226  
CHAPPELL SMITH & ARDEN  
P.O. Box 12330  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 929-3600  
(803) 929-3604 (facsimile)  
bsmith@csa-law.com

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674  
John S. Nichols # 4210  
BLUESTEIN NICHOLS  
THOMPSON & DELGADO  
P.O. Box 7965  
Columbia, SC 29202

## **COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission's findings of fact must be upheld when they are supported by the claimant's medical doctors and vocational expert.
- II. Whether the commission properly construed the partial disability statute to allow the claimant 340 weeks of benefits.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In September of 2014, Barry Adickes requested a hearing with the Workers' Compensation Commission, claiming reduced earning capacity after an injury. (R.p.36).

Phillips Healthcare (the employer) and Fidelity & Guaranty Company (the insurance carrier) disputed this and also said a hearing was premature. (R.p.37).

A single commissioner heard the claim in January of 2015. (R.p.115). He issued an award in August of 2015, finding the claim was timely. (R.pp.17-34).

Phillips and Fidelity appealed to the commission's appellate panel, (R.p.54), which heard oral arguments in December of 2015. (R.p.283). The panel affirmed the single commissioner's decision the following February. (R.pp.1-16). This appeal follows.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Barry Adickes was a traveling salesman who was hurt in a single car accident while driving on a mountain road. He received several injuries, including a concussion.

The commission awarded this case because it believed Barry and his witnesses. It found Barry's brain injury caused persistent headaches as well as impaired focus and concentration. It also found these things kept Barry from working a demanding (and high-paying) job as a salesman. The record supports these findings. The Court should affirm.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Barry's summary of this case's history is below. Several of the medical records contain similar accounts of his car wreck, and the hearing commissioner's decision has an 8-page synopsis of the case, including citations. (R.pp.19-26).

On March 22, 2011, Barry accidentally drove his company car off a mountain road in North Carolina and crashed into a ravine. He lost consciousness for a period of time and spent 5 hours trapped in his car about 100 feet down the side of the mountain. He was rescued after he used his mobile phone to call EMS early the next morning. (R.p.129, line 16 - p.132, line 12) (Barry's description of the wreck).

Barry refused transportation to the hospital after being rescued. He said he knew the closest hospital to the crash site was two hours away from his home and he did not want to be admitted to a hospital so far away. (R.p.132, line 13 - p133, line 2). He went to a hotel, where his wife picked him up and drove him home to Rock Hill. (R.p.644). According to a medical record from two days after the wreck, Barry had severe headaches and vomited three times on the way home. *Id.*

Barry saw several physicians in the months that followed. Dr. James Rentz, a neighbor, examined Barry for broken bones. *Id.* He eventually performed shoulder surgery, in October. (R.pp.666-667). Dr. Nicholas Tuttle is Barry's family doctor, and he sent Barry to Dr. Howard Mandell, a neurologist, about 2 weeks after the wreck. (R.pp.617-620). Extensive records document Barry's concussion, his neck injury, and damage to his right shoulder. (R.pp.535-673). Doctors eventually gave Barry a 15% impairment rating to the right shoulder, a 10% rating to his spine, and a 15% rating to his brain. (R.pp.565, 570, 584).

Barry's case is unusual because he returned to work shortly after his injury and continued working for over 2 ½ years before he initiated these proceedings. Barry was out of work less than a month—the wreck was March 22, 2011, and he returned to work May 1. (R.p.143, lines 19-21). Phillips terminated Barry 32 months later, in January of 2014. (R.p.146, lines 13-21).

The parties dispute the details of the termination. Phillips says it was part of a companywide reduction-in-force and had nothing to do with Barry's work. (R.p.242, lines 12-24). Barry says he recalls the conversation well and that his boss specifically told him the firing was performance-related. (R.p.147, line 5 - p.148, line 19).

Regardless, Barry's job with Phillips ended and he sought other employment. He ultimately accepted a job in May of 2014, but he made substantially less money than he did with Phillips. (R.pp.493-494). Barry explained he wrote this lower salary on his application because he needed a job and a friend at the company in question told Barry exactly what the position paid. (R.p.150, line 2 - p.151, line 11). At the hearing with the single commissioner, Phillips claimed it was Barry's fault he made less money; after all, he had requested the lower salary in his application. (R.p.121, lines 10-15).

Barry claimed two things at the commission. First, he said the wreck left him with cognitive deficits; persistent headaches as well as impaired "executive function" impacting his focus, concentration, ability to multi-task, and similar skills. (R.pp.51-53). Second, he claimed these deficits prevented him from working a demanding and high-paying job like the one he had with Phillips. *Id.* He supported this claim with testimony from his wife, his doctors, and a vocational expert. *Id.*

The Appellants disagreed and offered multiple grounds for their disagreement.

They said the claim was not ripe; that Barry had not reached maximum medical improvement because Barry did not have disability ratings for his shoulders. (R.p.121, lines 15-21). Barry would actually have these ratings by the hearing. (R.p.565).

The Appellants also argued Barry had not suffered a wage loss, and on this point, they disputed *everything*. They disputed whether Barry's headaches caused him to miss work and whether Barry had any cognitive deficits at all. (R.pp.38-50). They disputed whether Barry was believable. *Id.* They disputed whether Barry had been a good worker, whether Barry lied about jobs he said he pursued, and why Barry took a lower salary at the job he found. *Id.* They said Barry—a 21-year employee—had “disciplinary” issues and was a poor performer who had been “demoted” before his wreck, but they also insisted Barry was not fired for poor performance. *Id.* Of course, the reason Phillips fired Barry would not matter if the wreck caused brain damage, but no point went unchallenged.

The hearing commissioner issued an 18-page decision, summarizing the claims as well as the evidence. (R.pp.17-34). He described the witness testimony, lay and expert. (R.pp.21-26). He wrote that he had examined the entire file—specifically referencing his review of several depositions and records. (R..p.27, ¶8; p.28, ¶19; p.29, ¶20; p.30, ¶32). The commissioner found Barry to be at MMI, (R.p.27, ¶¶ 6-7), and that Barry suffered a cognitive deficiency limited to his executive function. (R.p.32, ¶¶44-45). The commissioner also found executive function determined Barry's ability to hold a job like his sales job with Phillips. (R.p.32, ¶45). The appellate panel issued identical findings. (R.pp.10-15). The panel's decision to affirm the single commissioner was unanimous. (R.p.16).

## ARGUMENT

For the most part, this is a “substantial evidence” case. The Appellants disagree with the commission’s factual findings, but as the Court is aware, the Court is bound by the commission’s findings unless they are clearly erroneous, made on an unlawful procedure, controlled by a legal error, or arbitrary. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (5) (Supp. 2015).

The Appellants say the case was not ripe for a hearing, but ample evidence supports the commission’s decision. A doctor gave Barry a permanent shoulder rating and said it was reasonable for Barry to try and avoid shoulder surgery as long as possible. The commission relied on this assessment. That reliance was within the commission’s discretion.

The Appellants also say Barry did not suffer a wage loss, but the Court need only review four (4) items—Dr. Waid’s report, Dr. Mandel’s deposition, Joel Leonard’s report, and Joel Leonard’s deposition—to see that ample evidence supports the commission’s decision. Other evidence is favorable too: There are helpful points in Barry’s performance evaluations and in the witness testimony, but the easiest way out of this case is to examine the evidence from the experts. Barry’s concussion left him with impaired executive function, and executive function was unfortunately a key part of his job. The commission did not have to believe these witnesses, but it chose to do so. That decision was reasonable.

Finally, the commission correctly read the partial disability statute (section 42-9-20) to allow Barry 340 weeks of benefits. Barry’s claim did not ripen until Phillips terminated him. The Appellants say they are seeking equity, but they are not. They are seeking to delay MMI, to take advantage of Barry’s return to work, and to pay Barry a fractional award instead of the claim’s full value. The award was proper. The Court should affirm.

**I. The Workers' Compensation Commission's findings of fact must be upheld because they are supported by the claimant's medical doctors and the vocational expert.**

The Appellants challenge the commission's findings that Barry has reached the point of maximum medical improvement and that he suffered a wage loss, but in neither case can the Appellants meet the burden imposed by section 1-23-380 and demonstrate that the commission's findings are clearly erroneous, made on an unlawful procedure, controlled by a legal error, or arbitrary.

- a. Dr. Barron's permanent impairment rating to Barry's right shoulder is evidence that a permanency award is appropriate.

"Maximum Medical Improvement" describes the point at which someone's medical condition ceases to improve. It is commonly called a "plateau" in someone's care because when someone reaches MMI, there is no further treatment that will help cure that person's underlying injury. This Court discussed MMI and these concepts in *O'Banner v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp.*, 319 S.C. 24, 28, 459 S.E.2d 324, 327 (Ct. App. 1995).

Importantly, a workers' compensation claimant can be entitled to additional medical care *after* reaching MMI. This is because the law allows someone to continue receiving medical care that will lessen the injured person's "period of disability." This was the holding in *Dodge v. Bruccoli, Clark, Layman, Inc.*, where this Court reversed the commission for holding that medical care ends at MMI. 334 S.C. 574, 580-82, 514 S.E.2d 593, 596-97 (Ct. App. 1999).

The week before the single commissioner's hearing, Dr. Jerry Barron gave Barry a 15% impairment rating to his right shoulder. (R.p.565). Dr. Barron said this rating was

enduring—he opined “Mr. Adickes has sustained *permanent impairment* of 15% to the right shoulder and 0% to the left shoulder.” *Id.* (emphasis added). He further explained Barry would probably require surgery in the future, but Dr. Barron believes it is reasonable for Barry to try to avoid surgery as long as possible. *Id.*

This is *not* the description of a patient whose condition has *yet* to plateau. Dr. Barron believes Barry has lost 15% of his right shoulder function—future surgery or not.

There is no contrary opinion in the record. No physician opined Barry is *not* at MMI. The Appellants did not send Barry for an independent medical evaluation, and the Workers’ Compensation Act gives the Appellants the power to direct Barry’s medical treatment, as this Court explained in *Gattis v. Murrells Inlet VFW No. 10420*, 353 S.C. 100, 113-14, 576 S.E.2d 191, 197-98 (Ct. App. 2003) (discussing S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 (2015)). The Appellants could have sent Barry to Dr. James Rentz, the authorized treating physician for his shoulders. They did not. Instead, Dr. Barron reviewed Dr. Rentz’s report and the MRI results, and Dr. Barron gave Barry a permanent rating. (R.p.565).

No authority holds that future surgery precludes a finding of MMI. Again, there are two ways an injured worker would be entitled to surgery. If surgery would help the *injury* improve, that would mean the injured worker is not at MMI. If surgery will not change the injury, but will nevertheless help alleviate the injury’s symptoms, that surgery will be proper even though the injured person is already at MMI. This Court’s decision in *Pearson v. JPS Converter & Indus. Corp.* describes these principles. 327 S.C. 393, 397, 489 S.E.2d 219, 221 (Ct. App. 1997). Yes, Barry may need surgery, but Dr. Barron’s opinion supports the commission’s decision; the decision is not clearly erroneous.

- b. Multiple experts gave evidence that Barry has a cognitive deficiency preventing him from earning wages like he earned at Phillips.

The Workers' Compensation Act is designed to compensate injured workers for the reduction in their earning capacity caused by on-the-job injuries. *Singleton v. Young Lumber Co.*, 236 S.C. 454, 470, 114 S.E.2d 837, 845 (1960). When an injured worker suffers an injury that is isolated to a single body part, it is commonly called a "scheduled injury." Compensation for scheduled injuries is awarded under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 (2015) because the Legislature has conclusively presumed the loss of earning capacity for those injuries. *Wigfall v. Tideland Utils.*, 354 S.C. 100, 107, 580 S.E.2d 100, 103 (2003).

When an injured worker suffers multiple injuries, the worker is not limited to the schedule and may offer evidence to prove the extent to which his or her earning capacity has been diminished. This is because the disabling effect of multiple injuries may be greater than the sum total of the scheduled allowances. *Singleton* and *Wigfall* are two of the principal cases on this issue, and Barry brought this type of claim. See (R.p.36). He has multiple injuries and he says those injuries left him with a permanent wage loss.

Barry's monetary award is detailed in finding #50 and conclusion #2 of the hearing commissioner's order. (R.pp.33-34). The panel's decision repeats these paragraphs. (R.p.15).

The Appellants' only evidentiary challenge to this award is that no wage loss exists, period. Put differently, the Appellants do not claim the commission should have given Barry a slightly lower award, they claim it was clearly erroneous to give Barry anything but zero. Here again, the Appellants cannot carry their burden. The record forecloses it.

Joel Leonard's deposition is a useful starting point, because Mr. Leonard was deposed December 30, 2014, less than a month before the single commissioner's hearing in January. See (R.pp.357-452). As a consequence of this timing, the trial record was mostly complete: Mr. Leonard was able to review anything the parties presented to him and explain how particular evidence impacted his opinions that Barry has suffered a reduction in his earning capacity as a result of his work-related car wreck. This was a change; the deposition of Barry's treating neurologist and the results of Barry's neurological testing with Dr. Waid were not available at the time of Mr. Leonard's original vocational evaluation. See (R.p.398, line 16 - p.399, line 9) and (R.pp.522-534) (the vocational evaluation).

During the deposition, the Appellants emphasized multiple portions of Dr. Waid's neurological report, noting areas where there was no evidence of dysfunction. (R.p.409, line 14 - p.416, line 17). The Appellants eventually accused Mr. Leonard of focusing on one line of the report rather than the whole report. (R.p.418, lines 8-11).

Mr. Leonard answered that he *was* considering Dr. Waid's entire report and he was addressing the issues the report identified. (R.p.418, lines 12-19). He explained he read Dr. Waid's report as indicating Barry has cognitive deficits "Because he [Dr. Waid] cited them." (R.p.416, lines 18-24).

The Appellants presented Mr. Leonard with evidence Barry was a substandard worker. (R.p.378, line 18 - p.382, line 5). This "performance improvement plan" is in the record, see (R.pp.467-476), and like the remaining employment documents in the record, see (R.pp.691-707), it unsurprisingly discloses that Phillips—a sales company—is *overwhelmingly* concerned with "closing" sales. The Appellants said Barry's behavior

before the accident was the same as his behavior afterwards, and they emphasized their view that Barry was obviously not fired for poor performance, (R.p.392, line 15 - p.394, line 15), even though they also explained Barry was a poor sales performer who they moved to a less-complicated position shortly before his wreck. (R.p.389, line 17 - p.391, line 8).

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